IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SCO4-210

ROTEMI REALTY, INC., et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

ACT REALTY CO.,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LAW OFFICES OF SHELDON R.
ROSENTHAL
Suite 1040, City National Bank Building
25 West Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 379-1452/Fax (305) 358-8020

By: SHELDON R. ROSENTHAL Fla. Bar No. 0685551.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

The facts of this case on appeal are not in dispute.

In the present case, the Petitioners, Martin-Hidalgo and Rotemi Realty, both real estate brokers, obtained a written listing from a property owner, under which they would earn a commission if they procured the sale of a 10-acre tract to the Miami-Dade County School District.

The School District ultimately purchased the property, and the landowner then refused to pay the agreed commission, contending that the brokers had not been the procuring cause of the sale.

There was a bench trial in which the trial court ruled that the brokers had earned their commission. There was never a claim that the brokers lobbied the School Board members or obtained the contract by favors, influence, or corrupt means. In fact, that defense was never raised by the pleadings or at trial.

The Third District Court of Appeal reversed the Lower Court's decision and ruled that a real estate commission agreement is void where the commission is contingent upon the procurement of a sale of property to a governmental body.

The Court of Appeal never cited the case of *Robert & Co v. Mortland*, 33 So.2d 732, (Fla. 1948), nor did the Court explain how they avoided the rule stated in the case, which is:

We understand the general rule to be that an employment in which compensation is contingent on success in securing contracts from public officials is not illegal on its face. It must be shown that it was induced by favors or corrupt means. The record in this case is devoid of any showing that plaintiff had any personal or political influence or that the contract was induced by illegal influence, *Robert & Co v. Mortland*, supra.

It is therefore essential to review the evidence pertaining to the commission agreement.

The Petitioner, Maria Martin-Hidalgo, was a real estate broker (and architect) with her own company, Martin-Hidalgo Realty. She obtained a listing for an unrelated tract of 20 acres in the western part of Miami-Dade County, Florida. She met with Leon Valentine, director of the real estate department of the Miami-Dade County School District, to determine whether the School Board would be interested in acquiring the 20 acres that she had listed. This was the first time that the Petitioner, Ms. Martin-Hidalgo, had ever met Mr. Valentine or discussed selling real property to the Miami-Dade County School Board.

At their meeting, Mr. Valentine explained that a 20-acre parcel is too small for a school site, since the recommended minimum size for a high school was 40 acres. Thus, he explained that the School District had no interest in the 20-acre site Ms. Martin-Hidalgo was attempting to sell.

While the Petitioner, Ms. Martin-Hidalgo, was in the office, she saw a wall map which had certain tracts of land highlighted in yellow. One of these was a U-shaped site consisting of 50 acres. In response to her question about the site, Mr. Valentine advised her that the School District was interested in acquiring the 50-acre tract.

Ms. Martin-Hidalgo asked about the 10-acre tract in the center of the "U". According to her trial testimony, Mr. Valentine responded that it would be nice to have the 10 acres, but it was not essential because the 50-acre tract would give the School District sufficient land for a new high school.

Ms. Martin-Hidalgo decided to investigate the 10-acre tract further, in hopes that she could obtain a listing and persuade the School Board to acquire the 10 acres along with the 50. She called Jose Perez-Urrutia, of Rotemi Realty, a broker with twenty-seven years' experience who was very knowledgeable about land in

that area.

Mr. Perez-Urrutia was familiar with the 10-acre tract, as well as the 50-acre tract controlled by Michael Cease. The 10-acre tract was owned by David Moliver through his company, Act Realty Co. Moliver had placed a "for sale" sign on the 10-acre tract. Mr. Perez-Urrutia knew both Cease and Moliver.

The Petitioners met with Moliver and explained that the School District was considering the acquisition of Cease's 50 acres. They offered to represent Moliver in an effort to convince the School District to buy the 10 acres along with Cease's 50 acres. This would give the School District a rectangular tract which would be easier to work with than the U-shaped 50-acre tract.

Moliver agreed and told the brokers that he wanted \$1 million for his 10 acres. He proposed that the brokers keep anything over \$1 million as their commission. The brokers testified that they agreed to this because they believed that the School District would wind up paying Cease over \$100,000 per acre for his 50 acres. They reasoned that if the School District bought Moliver's 10 acres in addition, it would be at the same price. They thus concluded that they had reasonable prospects for earning a commission under the arrangement that Moliver proposed.

Moliver then personally typed the Commission Agreement which

stated:

Commission Agreement

This agreement is between ACT Realty (owner) and Martin-Hidalgo & Associates and Rotemi Realty (brokers).

The owner agrees to pay a real estate brokerage commission to the brokers on the sale of the property described as:

Tract 3, Miami Everglades Land Co., section 29, township 54 south, range 30 east, PB 2, Pg 3 of the public records of Dade County.

This commission agreement is only valid if the brokers are able to procure a sale with the school board of Dade County Florida as the buyer.

The amount of the commission will be equal to the amount of the sales proceeds due the owner at closing that is over \$1,000,000.

This commission agreement is valid for a period of ninety days from the date of execution below. If there is no signed contract between ACT Realty and the school board of Dade County after ninety days, this agreement becomes null and void.

<u>/</u> s/
ACT Realty
•
<u>/s/</u>
Martin-Hidalgo & Ass.
<u>/s/</u>
Rotemi Realty

It was agreed that the listing price would be \$1.2 million.

Mr. Moliver next typed a letter authorizing the brokers to represent Act Realty on this proposed sale and faxed it immediately to the School District.

The following month, Moliver entered into the identical nonexclusive arrangement with Perez-Urrutia, to sell the 10 acres to Lennar Homes. Once again, the commission to be paid to the broker was the excess over \$1 million in the event of a sale to Lennar.

Leon Valentine left the School Board staff, and the brokers (Petitioners) continued to pursue the matter with other School Board staff members.

In June of 1999, Kathryn Wilbur, Director of Land Use and Acquisition for the School District, wrote to the Petitioner, Ms. Martin-Hidalgo, and offered \$800,000 for the 10-acre tract.

After communicating the offer to the landowner, Moliver, he made a counteroffer. According to the brokers' testimony, Ms. Martin-Hidalgo's responsibility was to communicate with the School District staff, while Mr. Perez-Urrutia's responsibility was to coordinate with Moliver and Cease. By Moliver's account, he and Cease became personally involved in the negotiations.

Eventually, the School District agreed to buy both tracts: the 50-acre tract -8-

from Cease and the 10-acre tract from Act Realty. The School District paid the same price per acre for all of the land, and the price paid for the 10-acre tract owned by Moliver was \$1,164,650.

The School Board approved the transaction on a 6-3 vote, which was the minimum vote necessary. After this occurred, but before the closing, the Petitioners were told that the owner of the 50-acre tract, Cease, had retained a lobbyist, Dusty Melton, to lobby the School Board members to purchase his 50acre tract.

Cease requested that Moliver pay \$20,000 towards Melton's fee, reasoning that Melton's efforts had resulted in a favorable vote by the School Board members for the entire 60-acre transaction. The Petitioners (brokers) testified that that was the first time that they were aware that a lobbyist was involved in the transaction. Moliver corroborated their testimony. However, Cease stated that Moliver had been aware of Melton's involvement at an earlier stage.

Under the Respondent Moliver's agreement with the Petitioner-brokers, his company (Act Realty) was to receive \$1 million net at closing. This meant that a \$20,000 lobbyist expense would have to be treated as an expense of the sale and therefore would not come out of Act's \$1 million net, but would come out of the -9funds which otherwise have gone to the Petitioner-brokers.

The Petitioners claimed that they were due and had earned a commission of \$144,650.00.

The Respondent Moliver refused to pay it, reasoning that the lobbyist, and not the Petitioner-real estate brokers, had procured the sale. The disputed commission amount was escrowed at closing.

The escrow agent filed an interpleader action, and the Petitioners and the Respondent each made claims for the commission money, which resulted in a bench trial and a Final Judgment for the Petitioners.

The District Court of Appeal, Third District, on their own motion, directed the parties to address whether the real estate Commission Agreement in this case is void as being against public policy, under dictum contained in *City of Hialeah Gardens v. John L. Adams & Co.*, 599 So. 2d 1322 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992).

It should be obvious that it is permissible for a landowner to hire a real estate broker to sell the owner's land, and to compensate the broker by a commission in the event the real estate broker procures a sale. It makes no difference whether the buyer is a public agency or a private person. There is nothing inherently illegal about such an arrangement.

The Florida Supreme Court has said:

It is quite true that if the contract with a public body is secured as a favor in exchangular public policy and cannot be enforced. There is not the slightest showing here that the contract in question was induced by favor or reward, nor is it shown that any corrupt influence was used or that anything more than competency and square dealing induced placing the contract.

Appellant relies on *Wechsler v. Novak*, 157 Fla. 703, 26 So. 2d 884, and similar cases, but we think these cases clearly support the rule announced in the previous paragraph. We understand the general rule to be that an employment in which compensation is contingent on success in securing contracts from public officials is not illegal on its face. It must be shown that it was induced by favors or corrupt means. 46 A.L.R. 196. *Edwards v. Miami Transit Co.*, 150 Fla. 315, 7 So. 2d 440. The record in this case is devoid of any showing that plaintiff had any personal or political influence or that the contract was induced by illegal influence, *Robert & Co.*, supra.

While this case was pending in the trial court, no one alleged--much less proved--that there were any corrupt means involved in the sale of the land. The evidence clearly showed that the Petitioner-brokers had no special influence with anyone, and, in fact, the Respondent Moliver complained that he and Cease were more effective negotiators than the Petitioner-brokers.

The contract was negotiated by the Petitioners, the Respondent, and the owner of the 50 acres and the School District staff. The contract was presented to the School Board for approval, and the Petitioner-brokers had no contact with the School Board members and didn't even know that a lobbyist was involved until

after the transaction had already been approved. In fact, the lobbyist had been hired by the neighboring landowner--Cease—and not by the Petitioners or the Respondent.

Under the controlling legal standard, a contract of this type should not be set aside unless there is proof of improper favors or corrupt means. There was no such proof in the trial court, nor was there any such proof presented in the District Court of Appeal.

The majority opinion of the District Court of Appeal, Third District, relied primarily on dictum from the case of *Citv of Hialeah Gardens v. John L. Adams* & *Co. Inc.*, 599 So. 2d 1322 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), but that case is of no assistance here. To begin with, a Third District case cannot overrule a controlling decision of the Florida Supreme Court. The decision in *Robert & Co.*, supra, remains good law and has not been receded from by the Florida Supreme Court.

In sum, the rule set forth in *Robert & Co.*, supra, is controlling and must be followed here, all of which, we submit, is why the District Court of Appeal inadvertently erred in its finding that the brokerage contract was void.

The argument that follows will show wherein the District Court of Appeal inadvertently erred in its conclusion and in its reversal of the Lower Court's

judgment.

II.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT WAS IN ERROR BY UNILATERALLY RAISING THE DEFENSE OF ILLEGALITY OF CONTRACT.
- B. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE COMMISSION AGREEMENT WAS VOID FOR PUBLIC POLICY REASONS, DESPITE NO PROOF INTRODUCED OF FAVORS, INFLUENCE, OR CORRUPT MEANS.

III.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court of Appeal was inadvertently in error in its unilateral decision to raise the defense of illegality of contract when the contract itself was not void on its face. Their decision to view the brokerage contract at issue as being void and against public policy, relying on the authority of *The City of Hialeah Gardens v. John L. Adams & Co.*, 599 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 3rd DCA), *rev. denied*,
613 So. 2d 5 (Fla. 1993), was clearly in error since it directly conflicted with the

Supreme Court's decision in *Robert & Co v. Mortland*, 33 So.2d 732, (Fla. 1948).

The District Court of Appeal, in holding that the contract was absolutely void without any proof or evidence of sinister and corrupt means to influence a governmental body, was clearly in error, based upon the *Robert & Co.* case.

Therefore, the majority opinion rendered by the District Court of Appeal,
Third District, should be quashed, and the dissent adopted.

IV.

ARGUMENT

A. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT WAS IN ERROR BY UNILATERALLY RAISING THE DEFENSE OF ILLEGALITY OF CONTRACT.

As noted in the Statement of Facts, the Respondent never raised the defense of illegality of contract in its pleadings, not did it ever raise the defense at trial.

When this case was pending in the trial court, no one alleged, much less proved, that there were any corrupt means involved in this land sale.

The Petitioners (brokers) had no contact with the School Board members and did not even know that a lobbyist was involved.

Under controlling legal standards, a contract of this type can be set aside in

Florida only if there is proof of improper favors or corrupt means, *Edwards vs. Miami Transit Co.*, 2 So.2d. 440.

In *Robert & Co. v. Mortland*, supra, this Court addressed an oral consulting contract that was contingent upon the Plaintiff's success in procuring public sewer contracts for the Defendant engineering firm. The legality of the contract was challenged for the first time at the close of the Plaintiff's case via a motion for directed verdict. The trial court denied the motion, and the Appellate Court affirmed on that issue, noting that, if a contract is legal on its face, its illegality must be specially pleaded and proven. The Court went on to state as follows:

We do not think that such a defense can be raised by the pleas entered, because the rule is well settled, that, if a contract is legal on its face, its illegality must be specially pleaded and proven...both sides admitted that its legality was a question of law, and we think the trial court was correct in so holding. What has been said as to political influence applies as well to the charge that Plaintiff's contract was bad because his compensation was contingent. It is quite true that, if a contract with a public body is secured as a favor in exchange for personal or political influence, it is contrary to public policy and cannot be enforced. There is not the slightest showing here that the contract in question was induced by favor or reward, nor is it shown that any corrupt influence was used or that anything more than competency and square dealing induced placing the contract.

Moreover, in *Busot v. Busot*, 338 So.2d 1332 (Fla. 2nd DCA, 1976), the former wife sued the former husband for breaching a post-divorce marital support

agreement. The husband failed to raise any affirmative defenses concerning illegality of the contract in the trial court. The Second District Court of Appeal noted that, had the support agreement been void on its face, the Court would have had the power to unilaterally raise the defense of illegality, even though that defense was not pled. However, since the agreement in the *Busot* case was facially valid, the defense of illegality was required to be alleged and proved, or it was otherwise waived by the husband.

In *Jorge v. Rosen*, 208 So.2d 644, (Fla. 3rd DCA, 1968), the Court, citing *Robert & Co.*, supra, held that regulations limiting contingent fee arrangements in cases before the IRS were voidable, as opposed to void, and therefore, its provisions could be waived by the failure to plead that defense.

Most respectfully, the District Court's conclusion that the contract in question was void on its face was erroneous, and we respectfully urge the Court to quash the District Court's decision.

B. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE COMMISSION AGREEMENT WAS VOID FOR PUBLIC POLICY REASONS, DESPITE NO PROOF INTRODUCED OF FAVORS, INFLUENCE, OR CORRUPT MEANS.

In the case on appeal, the District Court decided that the real estate brokerage agreement between the Petitioners and the Respondent was void as being

against public policy, since the agreement was purportedly of the type that created a possibility of sinister and corrupt means being used to obtain concessions from a governmental agency.

The Court further stated that no analysis of the parties' conduct under the agreement was necessary, as "It is the evil tendency of the contract, and not its actual injury to the public that is determinative." Accordingly, the Court refused to examine whether the sales contract procured from the School Board was actually influenced by improper or corrupt means.

The dissent by Judge Cope in the opinion succinctly states the evidentiary grounds that clearly reveal that the record was devoid of any showing that the contract was induced by favors or corrupt means. The record further shows that the Petitioners did not have any personal or political influence or that the contract was induced by illegal influence.

The *City of Hialeah Gardens*' case involved a lobbying contract, not a real estate commission agreement. In *City of Hialeah Gardens*, the City hired a lobbyist to procure an appropriation for the public roads. The lobbyist was to be paid a percentage of the appropriation obtained. However, there was never any appropriation, and the contingency never occurred. <u>Id</u>. At 1325. The *City of*

Hialeah Gardens' discussion of contingency agreements is dictum. Furthermore, that case did not involve a commission agreement for sale of property or goods, so any discussions which could be construed as relating to sales commission agreements is likewise dictum.

The *City of Hialeah Gardens*' case quoted extensively from the plurality opinion in *Wechsler v. Novak*, 26 So.2d 884 (1946). In 1948, however, the Florida Supreme Court announced the *Robert & Co.*, decision, which expressly explained and limited the *Wechsler* opinion. The limiting language is as follows:

We understand the general rule to be that an employment in which compensation is contingent on success in securing contracts from public officials is not illegal on its face. It must be shown that it was induced by favors or corrupt means.

The majority opinion of the Court of Appeals completely overlooked the distinguishing differences between the case at bar and the *Hialeah Gardens*' case, supra. In *Hialeah Gardens*, payment of the commission was being made from public funds to be received by the City, while, in this case, payment of the brokerage commission was coming from the owners of the property, and not a governmental agency.

In commenting on compensation contingent on success, one may recover for legitimate services in placing before officers of the government authorized to

contract for it, such information as may apprise them of the character and value of the articles offered and enable them to act for the best interests of the country and the recovery for such services where the sale is effected may be the ordinary brokerage commission, inasmuch as the percentage allowed by established custom of commission merchants, though dependent upon sales made, is not regarded as "contingent compensation" in the obvious sense of that term, but a rate established by merchants for legitimate services in the regular course of business, 17 <u>Am. Jur.</u> 2d, *Contracts*, p. 286.

The District Court of Appeal, in the case of *L. Y. Douglas v. City of Dunedin*, 202 So.2d 787 (2nd DCA, 1967), in passing on the validity of a contract between an attorney and a municipality, said,

If the fact that one of the parties is a municipality is disregarded, there is nothing which renders the contract invalid.

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