IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-210

ROTEMI REALTY, INC., et al.,

Petitioners,

-VS-

ACT REALTY CO.,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

SILVIA M. GONZALEZ, P.A. Counsel for Respondent FL Bar No. 0061239 2250 S.W. 3rd Avenue Suite 300 Miami, Florida 33129

Telephone: (305) 854-5955

Fax: (305) 854-5324

Email: SgonzalezLaw@aol.com

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

It is a fundamental principle of Florida Supreme Court jurisprudence that when the Court accepts review, on either a certified question or on a discretionary basis, the Court has jurisdiction to decide all the properly raised issues in the case. *See Kennedy v. Kennedy*, 303 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 1974); *Savoie v. State*, 422 So. 2d 308, 310 (Fla. 1982) ("[O]nce we accept jurisdiction over a cause in order to resolve a legal issue in conflict, we may, in our discretion, consider other issues properly raised and argued before this Court."); *Feller v. State*, 637 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1994). It is appropriate for this Court to consider the procurement issue because it was briefed by the parties below and is dispositive of the case.

Standard of Review

The standard of review applicable to a trial court's factual findings is whether

they are supported by competent, substantial evidence. *See Hull v. Miami Shores Village*, 435 So.2 d 868 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); *Laufer v. Norma Fashions, Inc.*, 418 So. 2d 437 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). If the court's decision is against the weight of the evidence, or unsupported by competent substantial evidence, the reviewing court must reverse. *Randy Int'l Ltd. v. Am. Excess Corp.*, 501 So. 2d 667, 670 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); *Design Eng'g Corp. of Am. v. Pan Aviation, Inc.*, 448 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); *Hull v. Miami Shores Village*, 435 So. 2d 868.

The Cause of Procurement Doctrine

The contract between the brokers and Act Realty was not a boilerplate listing agreement establishing a commission predicated on a percentage of the sale price.

The contract specifically required the brokers to *procure* a sale of the ten acre parcel to the Miami-Dade County School Board and the brokers' commission was entirely contingent upon whether the School Board purchased the property for more than one million dollars.⁸

The record below lacks sufficient evidence to support the trial judge's finding that the brokers were the procuring cause of the sale of Act Realty's property to the Miami-Dade County School Board for a purchase price of over one million dollars. There is no evidence of a direct and proximate link between the

⁸The commission was any amount over one million dollars.

actions of the brokers and the consummated sale, or the final sale price.

The evidence does show, however, that the School Board's prior decision to purchase Act Realty's land and its directed actions towards the acquisition of the property created a fortuitous opportunity for the brokers to interject themselves into the process.

The law is clear that in order for a broker to be the procuring cause of a sale, "a broker must show that he called the potential purchaser's attention to the property and that it was through his efforts that the sale ... was consummated."
B&B Supermarkets, Inc. v. Metz, 260 So. 2d 529, 531 (Fla. 2d DCA 1971); see also M. Sanson v. Dutcher, Higginbotham and Bass, 401 So. 2d 913, 915 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) ("the parties must have been brought together and the sale consummated as a result of continuous negotiations of the broker."). The principal criterion for making this determination is whether the broker was the proximate cause of the sale.

The causation language used in this context is not philosophically different from the notion of proximate causation in cases involving negligence.

Procuring Cause. The proximate cause, the cause originating a series of events, which, without break in their continuity, result in the accomplishment of the prime object. The inducing cause; the direct or proximate cause. Substantially synonymous with "efficient cause."

A broker will be regarded as the "procuring cause" of a sale, so as to be entitled to commission, if his or her efforts are the foundation on which the negotiations resulting in a sale are begun. A cause originating a series of events which without break in their continuity result in accomplishment of prime objective of the employment of the broker who is producing a purchaser ready, willing and able to buy real estate on the owner's terms.

BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (6th ed. 1991).

The term 'procuring cause', as used in describing a broker's activity, means more than 'but for' causation. *It refers to a cause originating a series of events which, without break in their continuity, result in accomplishment of the prime objective of employment of the broker,* which usually consists of procuring a purchaser ready, willing, and able to buy property on the owner's terms or of effecting a sale.

Marshall v. White, 245 F.Supp. 514, 517 (D.C. N.C. 1965) (emphasis added). In other words, the broker must be shown to be not only the *sine qua non* of the transaction, such that if the broker had not been involved in the process the sale would not have been consummated, but he must personally originate an unbroken series of events which culminate in a sale.

Courts look at a number of factors to determine the efficacy of the broker's actions relative to the completed transaction. A fundamental question is whether the broker introduced the property to the prospective buyer, or whether he

generated the initial interest in the property. Also significant is whether the broker engaged in unbroken negotiations which resulted in a sale. In Whitehead v. Dreyer, 698 So. 2d 1278 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997), for example, the evidence failed to show that the broker brought the seller and the buyer together and was the efficient cause of the transaction thus the broker was not entitled to a commission. "A broker, to be the procuring cause, must bring the parties together and effect a sale through continuous negotiations inaugurated by him." *Dreyer*, 698 So.2d at 1280. The negotiations must be continuous and the broker must be directly involved in the negotiations which lead to the sale, for "it is not enough for the broker to just have brought the buyer and seller together." Siegel v. Landquest, Inc., 761 So. 2d 415, 417 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). After introducing the property to the prospective buyer, bringing the parties together and engaging in continuous negotiations with the buyer, the broker "must also actually effect the sale..." Leon Realty, Inc. v. Hough, 310 So. 2d 767, 768 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975) (emphasis added). The requirement of actual, efficient causation is illustrated in *Barcelona West Investors*, Ltd. v. Hold & Hooker, Inc., 545 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989). In that case, the evidence failed to establish that the broker causally effected the sale. Notwithstanding the broker's long term relationship with the seller and the fact that

Notwithstanding the broker's long term relationship with the seller and the fact that he acted as an agent for the sale of another property for the seller, the court held

that the evidence did not support the verdict.

The causal analysis that courts engage in places great emphasis on whether the broker was involved at the beginning of the process and whether he originated interest in the prospective buyer thereby giving rise to a chain of events which led to a sale. In this case, the brokers did not introduce the property to the School Board and were not the originating cause of the series of events which led to the sale. "In order to be the procuring cause of a sale, the broker must directly originate a series of events which directly result in the producing of a purchaser for the property." Walker v. David Davies, Inc., 296 N.E.2d 691, 694 (Ohio App. 1972).

To constitute himself the *causa causans*, the predominating effective cause, it is not enough that the broker contributes indirectly or incidentally to the sale by imparting information which tends to arouse interest. He must set in motion a chain of events, which, without break in their continuity, cause the buyer and seller to come to terms as the proximate result of his peculiar activities.

Sessions v. Pacific Improvement Co., 206 P. 653, 660 (Cal. App. 1922).

A broker may still be entitled to a commission, even though he did not physically introduce the property to the buyer, only if he was the "pivotal" cause of the buyer's interest in purchasing the property. In *South Pacific Enterprises*,

Limited Partnership v. Cornerstone Realty, Inc., 672 So. 2d 568 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), Cornerstone Realty was contacted by Good Samaritan Hospital to help find a location suitable for the development of a satellite medical facility. In January 1991, the president of Cornerstone and a hospital representative met with Jess Santamaria, a partner in South Pacific Enterprises, and visited prospective sites. During the trip, the hospital representative expressed interest in a parcel of land owned by South Pacific. Santamaria submitted a development proposal to the hospital and Cornerstone and South Pacific entered into a brokerage contract. During this time, Daniel Catalfumo learned about the hospital's interest in South Pacific's property and contacted Santamaria, offering to purchase the land from him in order to develop it for the hospital. The ensuing negotiations between Santamaria, Catalfumo and the hospital intentionally excluded Cornerstone. The hospital later executed a development agreement with Catalfumo. The hospital also formed a partnership with a corporation owned by Catalfumo, Royal Palm West, for the express purpose of purchasing and developing the property. Santamaria then sold the land to the partnership which had been formed by, *inter alia*, Royal Palm West and the hospital, and cut Cornerstone out of the sale.

In awarding a commission to Cornerstone, the appellate court found that even though Cornerstone had not introduced the property to Catalfumo, it was

Cornerstone that originally got the hospital interested in South Pacific's parcel and introduced the hospital to the property. Moreover, the sale to Catalfumo's and the hospital's partnership was a transparent contrivance designed, in part, to avoid paying a brokerage commission to Cornerstone. The court thus reached the equitable conclusion that but for Cornerstone's actions in introducing the property to the hospital the sale would never have taken place.

In this case, although Cornerstone may not have physically introduced South Pacific and Royal Palm West, the record is clear that Good Samaritan Hospital's interest in the property, the genesis for all subsequent dealings including the ultimate sale of the property, resulted from a trip initiated by Cornerstone. Accordingly, we find that, given Cornerstone's *pivotal role* in generating interest in the subject property, it is inapposite to suggest that Cornerstone be denied a commission merely because it did not introduce South Pacific and Royal Palm West.

South Pacific Enterprises, Limited Partnership, 672 So. 2d at 570 (emphasis added). Cornerstone did, in effect, introduce the property to the ultimate buyer, the hospital, because Royal Palm West had formed a limited partnership with the hospital in order to purchase and develop the property. Thus South Pacific Enterprises reaffirmed the concept that proximate causation is the central consideration for the determination of the cause of procurement.

In the present case, the chronology of events prior to the involvement of the

brokers is the key to understanding why they were merely peripheral to the sale and were not the procuring cause.

- ▶ Before September, 1998, Michael Cease negotiated with the School Board for the sale of 50 acres that were contiguous with Act Realty's 10 acres.
- September 9, 1998, Michael Cease sent a letter urging the School Board to purchase Act Realty's 10 acres.
- The Regional Superintendent reviewed the site and in a memo, dated October 27, 1998, the School Board decided to acquire Act Realty's property.
- A preliminary investigation of the property was conducted.
- On January 19, 1999, the School Board ordered an appraisal of the 10 acres in preparation for the negotiation of a sale price.
- January, 21, 1999, the brokers visited the president of Act Realty and obtained a procurement contract.

It is incontestable that Michael Cease's recommendation to the School Board was instrumental in the Board's decision to purchase the subject property. His letter triggered a series of events; the most immediate of which was the Regional Superintendent's inspection of the land and the decision, six weeks after Cease's letter, to acquire both the 50 acres belonging to Cease's clients and Act Realty's 10 acres.

Maria Martin-Hidalgo's story about how she learned of the Board's interest

in Tract 3 was both contradictory and improbable. She claimed that she first became aware of the ten acres when she saw the wall map in Mr. Valentine's office in either late November or early December. When she inquired about the ten acres, Mr. Valentine reportedly said that they were unnecessary. After October 27, 1998, however, Mr. Valentine knew, as head of the real estate department, that the decision to acquire the property had already been made. Thus Mr. Valentine's alleged response to Ms. Martin-Hidalgo's inquiry made no sense. Furthermore, Ms. Martin-Hidalgo said that she and Mr. Perez-Urrutia visited Act Realty the day after she saw the map on Mr. Valentine's wall. The visit to Act Realty took place on January 21, 1999. If, as she maintained, the map incident occurred just one day before her visit to Act Realty, then her story completely falls apart. For on January 20, 1999, Mr. Valentine must have known that an appraisal of Tract 3 had been ordered on January 19 and would not have told her that the School Board did not need the property. Coincidentally, the brokers sought out Mr. Moliver, President of Act Realty, just two days after the Board had ordered the appraisal.

Ms. Martin-Hidalgo stated that she told Mr. Moliver that the School Board was interested in his property. Mr. Moliver denied this and insisted that the brokers did not divulge that the School Board was already interested in the ten acres. He said that they claimed to know certain individual who worked for the School Board

and they could use those relationships to generate interest in the property. Despite this disagreement in the evidence, the issue is not what Mr. Moliver subjectively believed about the brokers, or what the brokers represented to Mr. Moliver. The cause of procurement analysis is objective in nature. The real question is whether the brokers were the actual cause of procurement, or not. One thing is clear, the brokers were not hired as mere agents to negotiate a sale on behalf of Act Realty, the contract required the brokers to *actually procure* a sale to the School Board.

The brokers' actions did not bring about the sale. The record shows that Ms. Martin-Hidalgo's actions prior to the sale consisted of transmitting a letter of authorization to the School Board, speaking to two appraisers and conveying the Board's initial offer to Mr. Moliver (T. vol II, 9-13). She later had to terminate contact with the School Board because of an unspecified personality conflict, which apparently rendered her an obstruction to the negotiations, and Mr. Moliver directly negotiated the sale price himself. Her actions were inconsequential and did not give rise to the sale. As for Mr. Perez-Urrutia, who did not testify at the trial, his only involvement consisted of regular telephone calls to Michael Cease in order to find out what was happening. The record is devoid of any evidence demonstrating that he did anything to stimulate the sale.

The record, therefore, makes it obvious that the brokers were not active

agents in procuring the School Board as a buyer and inducing the Board to purchase Act Realty's property, nor did they engage in continuous negotiations leading to the consummation of the transaction.

CONTINGENCY FEE BROKERAGE
CONTRACTS FOR THE SALE OF PROPERTY
TO THE STATE VIOLATE PUBLIC POLICY
BECAUSE THEY ENCOURAGE CORRUPTION
AND THE PAYMENT OF INEQUITABLE
FEES. THUS THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM
THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S
DECISION VOIDING THE CONTRACT.

In 1906, Justice Oliver Wendell Holmes addressed the invalidity of contingency fee brokerage agreements involving property sales to the government. Ironically, the case involved the sale of a parcel of land to Congress for the construction of a hall of records and the broker's commission, as in the case *sub judice*, was contingent upon a final sale amount exceeding the price set by the owner.

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